TOWN OF DUCK
TOWN COUNCIL
REGULAR MEETING
October 1, 2025

The Town Council for the Town of Duck convened at the Paul F. Keller Meeting Hall at
1:00 p.m. on Wednesday, October 1, 2025.

COUNCIL MEMBERS PRESENT: Mayor Don Kingston; Mayor Pro Tempore Monica
Thibodeau; Councilor Sandy Whitman; Councilor Brenda Chasen; and Councilor Kevin
Lingard.

COUNCIL MEMBERS ABSENT: None.

OTHERS PRESENT: Town Manager Drew Havens; Development and Infrastructure
Director/Assistant Town Manager Connor Winstead; Town Attorney Robert Hobbs;
Police Chief Jeffrey Ackerman; Fire Chief Matthew Dudek; Public Information and
Events Director Kristiana Nickens; Planning and Permits Manager Sandy Cross; Finance
Administrator Lauren Creech; and Town Clerk Lori Ackerman.

OTHERS ABSENT: None.
Mayor Kingston called the meeting to order at 1:00 p.m.

Mayor Kingston asked Councilor Kevin Lingard to lead the Pledge of Allegiance. Mayor
Kingston led the moment of silence.

PUBLIC COMMENTS

Mayor Kingston opened the floor for public comments. He noted that comments will be
limited to three minutes as there was a timer for the time limit. He asked that any
comments related to the public hearing be held off. There being no one wishing to speak,
Mayor Kingston closed the time for public comments.

CONSENT AGENDA

Minutes from the September 3, 2025, Regular Meeting; Minutes from the
September 17, 2025, Mid-Month Meeting; Resolution 25-13, a Resolution of the
Town Council of the Town of Duck, North Carolina, Declaring November 20, 2025
as World Pancreatic Cancer Day; and Interlocal Agreement with the Town_ of
Southern Shores in Support of an Application for a Hazard Mitigation Grant for a
Stormwater Management Project along NC 12 near West Charles Jenkins Lane and
Sea Qats Trail

Councilor Lingard stated that he was happy to see Resolution 25-13 on the Consent
Agenda because both of his parents passed away from pancreatic cancer.



Councilor Chasen moved to approve the Consent Agenda as presented.
Motion carried 5-0.

SPECIAL PRESENTATIONS

Emplovee Recognition Program

Mayor Kingston stated that in December 2011, Council adopted an employee service
recognition program that would acknowledge the service of employees of the Town at
five-year intervals by providing them with a certificate of recognition as well as a gift
certificate to a Duck business of their choosing.

Mayor Kingston, Town Manager Havens, and Fire Chief Matthew Dudek went on to

present Fire Captain Jacob Dempsey with his 10-year service recognition and $100 gift
certificate.

QUASI-JUDICIAL PUBLIC HEARING

There were no Quasi-judicial public hearings at this time.

LEGISLATIVE PUBLIC HEARINGS

Public_Hearing/Discussion/Consideration of Ordinance 25-05, an Ordinance
Amending the Zoning Ordinance of the Town of Duck, Subsection 156.050 —
Exemptions Generally, and Subsection 156.128 ~ Land Disturbing Activities

Mayor Kingston turned the meeting over to Town Attorney Hobbs.

Town Attorney Hobbs opened the public hearing, noting that the Council would be sitting
as a legislative body. He stated that Planning & Permits Manager Sandy Cross would
give a presentation.

Planning & Permits Manager Sandy Cross was recognized to speak. Manager Cross
stated that discussions began at Council’s Retreat in February when staff brought up
retaining walls and fill. She added that Council agreed that it would be sent to the
Planning Board for further review. She stated that discussions with the Planning Board
started back in April 2025 and the Board spent five months on the issue, culminating in
the Planning Board making a recommendation at their August 2025 meeting to send it to
Council.

Manager Cross explained that several sections of the Town Code were considered. She
stated that the Planning Board considered Section 156.128, which was land disturbing
activities, Section 156.050, which was walls and fences, and Chapter 150, which was
flood damage prevention. She noted that what came out of the discussions were some



additional definitions that clarified retaining walls versus bulkheads and fill slopes versus
cut slopes. She added that the Planning Board also discussed the maximum fill which was
one of the discussion items had at Council’s Retreat and the Planning Board agreed to
keep it at three feet, which was preferred; however, it did not exclude one from coming to
Council for more fill through a special use permit application.

Manager Cross stated that the Planning Board recommended that the Town allow fill to
be supported by retaining walls provided the homeowner maintains a five-foot property
setback. She noted that this was different from what the Town previously had, adding
that Council reviewed a lot of special use permits for fill and containing them with a
retaining wall. She pointed out that the Planning Board kept the engineered stormwater
plan requirement if a homeowner applies for a special use permit with a request of greater
than three feet in height. She added that the Board also recommended maintaining the
height limits to six feet for residential and 10 feet for commercial properties. She stated
that staff can administratively approve retaining walls supporting fill up to three feet and
bulkhead heights were limited to three feet within three feet of the adjacent grade.

Manager Cross stated that the other specific language changes included cleaning up
language for land disturbing activities within five feet of property lines; adding staff
discretion for land disturbance permits “as deemed necessary”; changing the driveway
design requirement from “prevent” to “mitigate” stormwater flow; and allowing filling
lot depressions based on percentage of lot size.

Manager Cross explained that, because of the revisions in 156.128 and because of
Section 156.050 which speaks to walls and fences, staiff had to add language that was as
follows: “Unless otherwise noted in Section 156.128, the setback requirements of this
chapter shall not prohibit any necessary retaining wall or prohibit any wall or
fence...unless otherwise specifically provided under Section 156.128.”

Manager Cross stated that the Planning Board found that, consistent with the Town’s
Comprehensive & Land Use Plan, it minimized negative environmental impacts;
protected neighborhood character; improved local flooding and stormwater management;
and improved resiliency to sea level rise and changing climate. She added that it also
aligned with the Duck 2032 Vision. She stated that the Planning Board was
recommending that Council approve Ordinance 25-035.

Town Attorney Hobbs asked Council if they had questions for Manager Cross.
Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau clarified that if a homeowner has an existing bulkhead in
place and it needs to be repaired and they had a special use permit previously, it would be

handled administratively. Manager Cross stated she was correct.

Councilor Lingard thought the idea was to make staff’s job more easier and give more
flexibility. He asked if that was correct. Manager Cross stated that it was.



Councilor Chasen thanked the Planning Board and staff for getting the ordinance
completed because it was a lot of work to go through in order to produce clear and easily
understood graphics that help define the definition of some of the terms to make it easier
for contractors and homeowners to work through a project together.

Councilor Whitman thanked the Planning Board for their hard work.

Town Attorney Hobbs asked if any members of the public wished to comment on the
proposed ordinance. There were none.

There being no one else wishing to speak, Town Attorney Hobbs closed the public
hearing and turned the meeting back over to Mayor Kingston.

Councilor Chasen moved to approve Ordinance 25-05 as presented.
Motion carried 5-0.

OLD BUSINESSATEMS DEFERRED FROM PREVIOUS MEETINGS

There was no Old Business to discuss at this time.

NEW BUSINESS

Discussion/Consideration _of an _Appointment to the Dare County Housing
Foundation Board

Town Manager Drew Havens was recognized to speak. Town Manager Havens explained
that the Dare Community Housing Task Force has been working for nearly two years to
address the issue of the lack of housing for the workforce in Dare County. He stated that
the Task Force was comprised of representatives from each town, Dare County, and other
stakeholder groups with he and Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau representing Duck on the
Task Force. He added that as the group works towards solutions, one change that was
needed was to create a non-profit entity that can work with the private and public sectors
to implement long-term solutions. He noted that the non-profit will have a Board of
Directors made up of four individuals from the private sector along with the current Chair
and Vice Chair of the Task Force, and a representative of each town and two from Dare
County. He pointed out that the preference of the Task Force was that the member of this
new board be an elected official.

Mayor Kingston stated that he had stepped down from the housing taskforce and had
asked Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau to serve on it. He thought she was doing an
outstanding job.

Mayor Kingston moved to appoint Mayor Pro Tempore Monica Thibodeau to represent
the Town of Duck on the Dare County Housing Foundation Board.



Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau stated that she appreciated Town Manager Havens’
explanation of the board, adding that it will have representation from all of the towns and
some other stakeholders. She added that she welcomed the opportunity to serve on the
board.

Motion carried 5-0.

Mayor Kingston pointed out that Donna Creef was in the audience, adding that she was
the co-chair of the foundation and a member of the housing taskforce. Mayor Pro
Tempore Thibodeau added that Ms. Creef has done an amazing job and thanked her for
her leadership.

ITEMS REFERRED TO AND PRESENTATIONS FROM THE TOWN
ATTORNEY

Town Attorney Hobbs stated he had nothing to report.

ITEMS REFERRED TO AND PRESENTATIONS FROM THE TOWN
MANAGER

Departmental Updates

Police Chief Jeffrey Ackerman was recognized to speak. Police Chief Ackerman gave a
brief overview of the past month’s police activities to Council and the audience.

Fire Chief Matthew Dudek was recognized to speak. Fire Chief Dudek gave a brief
overview of the past month’s fire activities to Council and the audience.

Manager Cross gave an overview of the past month’s permit activities to Council and the
audience.

Public Information and Events Director Kristiana Nickens was recognized to speak.
Director Nickens gave a brief overview of activities to Council and the audience.,

Avugust FY 2026 Financial Presentation

Finance Administrator Lauren Creech was recognized to speak. Administrator Creech
gave a short presentation on the August Fiscal Year 2026 financials to Council and the
audience.

MAYOR’S AGENDA

Mayor Kingston stated that he has his mayors/chairmen meeting on October 21, 2025
hosted by Dare County. He stated that he was looking forward to the jazz festival. He
pointed out that the League of Women Voters will be in Duck for the Candidate Forum



on October 6, 2025 at 7:00 p.m. and that Election Day was November 4, 2025 with early
voting coming up later in October. He encouraged everyone to get out and vote.

COUNCIL MEMBER’S AGENDA

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau thanked staff for their work on the jazz festival. She
stated that she was looking forward to the weekend of events and thanked Town staff and
volunteers for their participation. She thanked Council for their support with her serving
on the Dare County Housing Foundation Board.

Councilor Lingard stated that he has an interest in e-bikes and with the unfortunate
accident that happened a few weeks ago, he predicted that something like that was going
to happen and it did. He stated that he would like, if it was possible, to have the Town
join the other towns and meet with their State representatives to put pressure on them. He
wasn’t sure how it would work, but he thought they could meet with the State
representatives to put pressure on them to actually do something about defining e-bikes
and giving the police departments a way of controlling them. He pointed out that
someone was seriously injured recently, adding that someone will get killed on an e-bike.
He understood that the Duck Police Department’s hands were tied because of the lack of
action by the State. He thought if the four towns got together, it would make it a much
more powerful voice than just the individual towns talking. He hoped that he would be
re-elected and if so, suggested speaking with Town Manager Havens and Police Chief
Ackerman about it then to see what could be done to unite the voice of the towns.

Councilor Whitman stated that Council was looking for a member of the Planning Board
to serve on the Parks & Recreation Advisory Committee. He suggested that Council
allow the Planning Board members to pick their own representative instead of having to
fill out an application and stand before Council. He noted that it would have to be an
individual from the current Planning Board. Mayor Kingston and Mayor Pro Tempore
Thibodeau thought it was a good suggestion. Town Attorney Hobbs stated that he would
need to look into it because he wasn’t sure if the Planning Board had the authority to do
that. He asked if someone could fill him in on things. Town Manager Havens explained
that the Planning Board would be able to vote on the individual that should serve on the
Parks & Recreation Advisory Committee, adding that Council would have the final say
on it. Town Attorney Hobbs stated that the Town Code has a procedure for appointments,
including advertising. He thought the Code should be looked at to see if there was a way
to do it the way Councilor Whitman suggested. He thought if it was an appointment that
Council must make, then the Code tells Council how it is supposed to be done. Councilor
Whitman thanked Director Nickens and Community & Engagement Coordinator Betsy
Trimble for all of the work they will be doing with the upcoming jazz festival.

Mayor Kingston asked if Council should formalize it because they want to make the
appointments at Council’s November 5, 2025 meeting. He added that people would be
coming to the meeting for the appointment to the Parks & Recreation Advisory
Committee. He asked if Council should formalize it so they could ask the Planning
Board to make their recommendation that would be approved by Council. He thought



Council could reject it. Town Attorney Hobbs explained that the Town Code has a
procedure for any appointments that Council makes, adding that there was a set
procedure on how to do it. He recommended that any appointments Council is asked to
do follows the same procedure every time so Council is consistent. He added that the
Planning Board could make a recommendation but Council’s procedure was pretty clear
about things.

Councilor Chasen thanked staff for all the work they do in keeping Council well
informed. She stated that she wanted to address an issue in that she was concerned over a
recent meeting that was held in the first-floor conference room by the Duck Democrats,
who were offering a meet and greet of three of the six candidates running for Duck Town
Council. She pointed out that there was no partisan politics in a municipal election. She
stated that she wanted to objectively state the facts since she researched it in order to call
attention to it because she thought it was a concern that it even happened. She stated that
on August 26, 2025, Duck Democrats the Blue Wave in Duck posted on Facebook that
they were having a meeting that would be held in the Town Hall building and the
commentary about it stated that they were excited to announce the Duck Democrats
meeting for September where they will have a meet and greet with three of the Duck
Town Council candidates — Monica Thibodeau, Kevin Lingard and Miriam Rollin — on
the ballot for the November 4, 2025 election. She stated that the meet and greet of
candidates would be held at Town Hall with James Cofield introducing the candidates
and facilitating the meeting. She pointed out that there was a note stating that the Duck
Town Council races were completely non-partisan, there was no R or D after any of the
candidate names on the ballot.

Councilor Chasen stated that on September 29, 2025, the meeting was held with Mayor
Pro Tempore Thibodeau and Miriam Rollin attending, but Councilor Lingard was not
able to attend. She pointed out that she had no problem with the meeting being held,
adding that there was nothing illegal about it, but she thought it was wrong and very
unDuck-like to have a population of approximately 600 active residents; there were six
Council seats, five were up to be elected and for them not to be able to include everyone
was completely wrong in her opinion. She received a telephone call from a Duck
Democrats representative, Miriam Rollin, after the meeting had happened stating that she
wanted to get all six members together. She felt that it was either an intentional omission
to not include all six candidates or it was done as a short-sighted gesture not
understanding the parameters that allow the League of Women Voters to do exactly the
same thing — have all six candidates available to answer questions and respond to the
public. She pointed out that it was her personal comment that Council should not be
doing things like that. She added that in full transparency, she wanted everyone to know
that she was not okay or happy with the fact that people were excluded from something
that represented all of Duck.

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau thanked Councilor Chasen for her comments, adding that
she shed a light that affected a lot of people that were concerned about the fact that it was
a meeting that was locking for content in terms of what would be put on the agenda. She
pointed out that she did not set the agenda or come up with it, but she was a willing



participant, adding that she did raise the concerns about the fact that they were non-
partisan and have always been, which she loved about the Town with regard to the
elections. She stated that she wished many more of the government elections were non-
partisan as she thought it creates division where there doesn’t need to be and division has
never been in Duck. She stated that she did not want to add a wedge to anything that the
Duck Democrats do in the Town in terms of unity.

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau thought, given the fact that there was a worry and an
idea, part of it was because of the idea that there cannot be more than two Council
members together without creating a meeting. She noted that when she answered the
invitation, she knew there would be only two Council members eligible to attend, so she
knew they were fine with regard to the open meetings law, but that was when the
discussion at that meeting led to what Councilor Chasen had brought up.

Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau stated that that was where the idea came as to how it
could be done in a much more broad way and where the invitation came from. She
explained that it was because, at the meeting of 10-12 people, that was discussed; brought
up; and agreed that everyone wanted to be included. She stated that since she was at the
meeting, it was where the discussion started about whether or not it was something that
the Town could sponsor and be more conversational than what the League of Women
Voters put on. She stated that she joked that all Council members would have to be
completely separated in order to talk to the constituents so it would not be everyone
talking as a Council. She stated that since there were so many Council members running,
she joked that it would be like speed dating, with small one-on-one conversations in a
room. She stated that that was the intent of trying to figure out a way to do it
appropriately and not violating any open meeting laws and being inclusive. She
apologized for any feelings that were created by participating in the Duck Democrats
meeting.

Councilor Chasen stated that she appreciated the public apology and thanked Mayor Pro
Tempore Thibodeau. She stated that she did not feel like anyone on Council has any
problem with partisanship because they worked well as a group. She stated that she
wanted to bring it up now to make sure that it was her intent that Council continues to be
able to do that. Mayor Pro Tempore Thibodeau thanked Councilor Chasen for bringing it

up.

Mayor Kingston reminded Council at their last meeting he briefly spoke about the issue
because he had heard that things were getting partisan. He knew that in his eight elections
running for Town Council, this could have set a precedent that the Town never had over
those elections. He added that there was never interference from partisan organizations,
adding that they offered support, but he thought most candidates declined it and he hoped
that, moving forward, when people run for Town Council, that they will stay non-partisan
and avoid partisanship. He agreed with Councilor Chasen’s comments, adding that it was
unfortunate to bring partisan politics into a non-partisan election.

OTHER BUSINESS




Additional Public Comments

Mayor Kingston opened the floor for public comments. There being no one wishing to
comment, Mayor Kingston closed the time for public comments.

Mayor Kingston noted that the next meeting would be the Regular Meeting on
Wednesday, November 5, 2025 at 1:00 p.m.

ADJOURNMENT

Councilor Whitman moved to adjourn the meeting.

Motion carried 5-0.

The time was 1:53 p.m.

f A. Ackerman, Town Clerk

el rd
ot R | HiL
LA R

NORTH CAROLINA




